

From Romanian "Soul" to English "Heart": Dilemmas of Cultural and Gender Representation in Translating Qualitative Data

Alexandra Macht

translation; emotions; culture; gender; qualitative interviews; emotional

Key words:

reflexivity

Abstract: In this article I argue that translation in cross-cultural research leads to the construction of a certain linguistic hierarchy, wherein the English language subordinates the Romanian language. I illustrate my arguments with examples from 47 qualitative interviews with Scottish and Romanian fathers on the topic of love. To situate this argument, I describe how in my role as an Anglo-Romanian bilingual interpreter I inadvertently contributed to the creation of this hierarchy. This happened through translation as I was fitting Romanian into English to disseminate the meanings, values and emotions of Romanian fathers to a primarily English-speaking audience. At the same time by employing emotional reflexivity and focusing on gender matters in the context of shared responsibility of constructing knowledge, I resolved some linguistic tensions. Paradoxically, by carrying emotional meanings across into another language, there is the main positive consequence of moving the focus in research from the center to the margins, as it increases the visibility of a usually overlooked sample of people from a specific cultural background.

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Background Distinctions Between Romanian and English
- 3. Constructing a Cultural Hierarchy Through Linguistic Adjustments
 - 3.1 Example 1
 - 3.2 Example 2
 - 3.3 Example 3
 - 3.4 Example 4
 - 3.5 Example 5
- 4. Obstacles in the Formation of a Hierarchy: Emotional Reflexivity, Gender and Shared Responsibility
 - 4.1 Emotional reflexivity
 - 4.2 Gender matters
 - 4.3 Shared responsibility
- 5. Conclusion: Representing the Cultural Margins or Reproducing Linguistic Dominance?

Acknowledgment

References

Author

Citation

1. Introduction

"(...) a quiet revolution is occurring. This revolution is defined by the politics of representation, which asks: What is represented in a text, and how is it to be judged?" (DENZIN & LINCOLN, 2005, p.xiv)

The debate on the quality of qualitative research began with considerations of the validity of qualitative data (REICHERTZ, 2000) in relation to economic resources (BREUER, 2000), aesthetics (HUBER 2001), and contextualization (KIENER & SCHANNE, 2001). It then evolved as BREUER and REICHERTZ (2001) have considered the standards of social research and their cultural implications, LAUCKEN (2002) tackled the political underpinnings of constructing quality criteria in humanistic research, and ROST (2003) mapped out trends in how researchers analyze empirical data. In addition, quality was assessed across a variety of different areas of research, such as in health studies through participatory approaches (SPRINGETT, ATKEY, KONGATS, ZULLA & WILKINS, 2016), in the presentation of findings in open access journals (MARDONES, ULLOA MARTINEZ & SALAS, 2018) and in the methodological challenges posed by qualitative data analysis software (ZHAO, LI, ROSS & DENNIS, 2016). If perspectives on ethnographic research in Ibero-America in conjunction with concerns about the relevance of qualitative data were debated (see AGAR, 2006a, 2006b; GROEBEN, 2006; ROTH, 2006; SCHREIER & BREUER, 2006), it is essential to note that attention should be widened to include Eastern-European languages, to further explore the cultural implications of translation. [1]

In bridging this understanding, a more recent thread that emerged from the fruitful scholarly conversations on quality is related to the ethical and analytical challenges proposed by translation (ROTH, 2013). These have been analyzed in relation to the intricacies of conducting grounded theory research (TAROZZI, 2013; TOLHURST, 2012) but also to problematize how researchers interpret both the social and the societal in their translations, and as such maintain or loose the implications of theoretical paradigms in the process of converting material from a language into another (ROTH, 2018). However, in this debate gender often has been excluded from the conversation. Reflecting on gender and the potential "othering" perspective of the researcher (BRONS, 2015) might bring new insights into what constitutes the quality of data or impediments to achieving it, particularly in the context of cross-cultural research. In line with this current gap in knowledge, the present article adds to the debate by shifting the focus onto gender and culture, not from the position of a change perspective (BREUER, 2003) but from the sociological perspective of a researcher's positionality. As the personal characteristics of the social researcher inevitably intrude into qualitative research (with respect to choosing a topic, gathering interviews, considering ethics etc.), it is important to shed light on the implications of translating material from one language into another in considering the limits of subjective bias. I expand this argument below by taking account of how in my role as a researcher I was influenced to convert the meanings of Romanian words into English to present and disseminate my findings, and how through this action I contributed to the creation of a dominant linguistic, cultural hierarchy. However, I also show how

as a Romanian woman I subverted this and kept the specificity of the Romanian language while writing and disseminating the findings of my doctoral research. [2]

As part of this process, the researcher performs an act of emotional diminishment to fit the requirements of their own culture into a pre-determined dominant linguistic structure. Even if unmentioned in ethical guidelines where participants are referred to in universal terms, gender alongside culture influence the process of translating qualitative data: both that of the researcher and that of the participants. Being a woman translating men's words is an activity which implies both care and power. On the one hand, during fieldwork I was given the power to be an advocate for fathers' emotional concerns in the process of interpreting their emotional experiences, while, on the other hand, I was colluding with the dominant linguistic perspective of translating my data into English during the writing of my thesis. But before I illustrate this argument with examples from my research on love and fatherhood, it is necessary to briefly introduce the word *translation* and sketch some linguistic differences between English and Romanian. [3]

2. Background Distinctions Between Romanian and English

Etymologically, the word "translation" stems from Latin, were as the verb "transferre" it denotes the act of "carrying something across" (CHESTERMAN, 2006, p.5). Furthermore, "The Oxford English Dictionary" (SIMPSON & WEINER, 1989) offers three pathways to define the act of translating. One refers to the actual *rendering* of the meaning of a word or text in another language, the other refers to the *conversion* of something from one form of medium into another, and finally it specifies the process of *moving* something from one place to another. It is the second part of this definition, the *conversion* aspect, which I am tackling analytically in this article. As such I define translation as a form of interpretation, which can be hegemonic. My aim is to show that in the act of linguistic transformation, a language is subordinated by another more dominant one. Paradoxically, I also show that in the movement from a source language to a target language, there is also the positive consequence that the marginalized and converted language becomes visible and known to a wider audience, even if still *filtered* through English. [4]

Certain obvious distinctions exist between the English and the Romanian language. English is the third-most spoken language in the world after Mandarin Chinese and Spanish containing 171,476 words in current use (HSIUNG, 2012). By comparison, and according to the second edition of "The Orthographic, Orthoepic and Morphologic Dictionary of the Romanian language" (ACADEMIA ROMÂNĂ, 2010), the Romanian lexicon comprises only 62.000 words and is spoken as a primary language by approximately 24 million people in the world. Therefore, it is difficult to assert that both languages should have an equal spread and cultural popularity across the globe, and it would make sense for a text to be converted into English while hoping to increase its reach to the public. And yet what might "make sense" can also serve to increase the naturalization of a dominant language over another. This problematic aspect echoes feminist

arguments about the persistence of patriarchy as a system of hierarchical social relationships (RAMAZANOĞLU & HOLLAND, 2002), but this time at the level of language representation. Even if one adopts a feminist approach to research which prioritizes cooperation, care and creativity while unmasking gendered inequalities (ibid.), there is still a heightened risk of reproducing Eurocentric concepts of feminism (GREWAL & KAPLAN, 1994), as Virginia OLESEN writes with respect to the publishing process of academic research: "Translation difficulties and marketing pressures make English language publication necessary" (2005, p.258). [5]

As a methodological background to the research, it is important to mention what was translated as part of my research. The data excerpts discussed in this article stem from a group of 47 recorded and transcribed qualitative interviews, which were designed and analyzed following grounded theory methodology. Coding was done paragraph-by-paragraph rather than line-by-line to move efficiently through the large volume of data (which at 13 to 15 pages per interview, totaled approximately 700 pages of verbatim self-transcribed material for analysis). Once categories and themes were identified, case-studies were compiled for each participant by incorporating field-notes with the most relevant quotes and often occurring themes from the interviews. The transcription, analysis and compiling case studies was done entirely by myself in the writing up and dissemination stage. One caveat to this is that the Romanian interview guide was adapted based on the Scottish one, which was developed from the first seven pilot interviews collected in Edinburgh with Scottish fathers. Yet the data was collected in English for the Scottish¹ participants and in Romanian for the Romanian participants. At times, there were differences in the grammatical structure of the two languages that obstructed a verbatim translation. The main transcription issues I encountered were knowing how to render the non-verbal elements of the interviews and preserve participants' emotions. I expand on these matters in the examples presented in the following section. [6]

3. Constructing a Cultural Hierarchy Through Linguistic Adjustments

Concerns about translation have been expressed in anthropology for decades. For example, Ruth BEHAR (2003) and Catherine LUTZ with Lila ABU-LUGHOD (1990) have written about translating from the outsider's perspective, and the dissolution of the boundaries between subject and object in narratives which can potentially destabilize colonial inheritances. It has been discussed, that culture is not only created through narratives but once power is also included into the analytical frameworks, then marginalized perspectives can help us rethink dominant cultural scripts (SPIVAK, 1992). Furthermore HSIUNG (2012) convincingly argues that scholars from the periphery should maintain a distinct

There as well the problematic aspect of considering the valuable particularities of Scots, the Scottish dialect, as a language distinct from English, but nonetheless often represented in research in the category "English language." In this article, I chose for lack of space to focus primarily on how English subordinates Romanian, but it should be kept in mind that Scots might suffer the same conversion. In my research, I resisted this strategy and retained in the data excerpts the distinctive aspects of the Scottish language, even if I had to provide explanations at times.

and collective identity which should challenge the dominant Anglo-Saxon center of qualitative research (KUSHNER, 2003) and the roots of the English language (WATTS, 2011). While I agree with the sentiment, it should be emphasized that the case of migrant researchers has not been considered in-depth. When a researcher has lived and studies in a certain country and culture situated at the margins and then becomes active in the academic and research environment of a country at the North-Western center, then a hybrid cultural identity is formed. This transitional identity complicates the process of translating and disseminating research in both the Western and the Eastern part of Europe (specifically referring to my example). As such it is not only as HSIUNG (2012) argues that knowledge produced in the center is consumed in the periphery, but that some researchers from the periphery feel more valued and are more visible in the center and help produce certain types of knowledge that not only serve to be consumed by the periphery but can as well represent it. It is a mediated process due to the dominance of research opportunities, funding and other types of structural benefits experienced in the West compared to other parts of Europe. As English is the dominant language in which the research is written, presented and disseminated, Romanian then becomes a subordinate language which requires adjustments, translation and modifications to not only become visible but also representative to English audiences. Below I provide six examples to show how this has been achieved pragmatically in the process of translating the data. [7]

3.1 Example 1

Firstly, as I translated I tried to retain some of the original Romanian words and expressions and have introduced them next to the translated word in the body of the thesis, for example, in my explanation of the double meaning of love in the Romanian language:

"In the Romanian language, 'love' as a noun, has more than one meaning, so it can be expressed as either 'dragoste' or as 'iubire' (Ilut, 2015). Even if differences in meaning are rather liminal, Romanians would use 'dragoste' as a type of romantic love, while 'iubire' is a general term meant to represent the love one has for the family as well. Often and when used in common language, the terms are blended and resist clear differentiations" (MACHT, 2017, p.14). [8]

At the recommendation of my supervisor, I offered an additional footnote as well to clarify further:

"To give an example, one would translate 'I love you' as 'Te iubesc'. Romanians use 'dragoste' to describe the experiences of falling in love 'm-am îndrăgostit', but also to express what they deem to be worthy of love and hold dear: 'drăguţ' as 'cute' or 'draga mea/dragul meu' as 'my dear'. One would translate 'I love my parents' as 'îmi iubesc părinţii', again by using 'iubire', even if for romantic partners the terms used would have the same lexical root as 'iubita/ul meu' or 'my loved one'. When used in a family context however, the meaning is devoid of any sexual romantic feelings. The two words are used to differentiate between sexual and romantic love, according to

context. In this sense the Romanian fathers in my research have used the more familial term 'iubire' to refer to their children" (ibid.). [9]

It did puzzle me that something so significant to my thesis had to be relegated to a footnote, but this could be a potential indication of ongoing processes of marginalization. On the other hand, specifically including Romanian words in the text from time to time, breaks the dominion of the English language if only temporarily. It re-orients the reader's attention to there being a textual difference that needs to be attentively considered. [10]

3.2 Example 2

Secondly, I tried to represent the Romanian language in its grammatical correctness. The Romanian alphabet contains a set of unique letters introduced in writing through syntactical labels called diacritics [diacritice], and these letters are: ă, î, s, t, â. However, it is common practice amongst some Romanians to write in everyday written exchanges tatal [father] rather than the correct spelling of tatăl, because it is a quicker way of typing (especially if keyboards have not been set to the local linguistic parameters but remain on the factory model which arrives normally with the US/UK English default setting). Writing the word in this way, still conveys the meaning of the word 'the father' across, and it could be one of the reason for the enduring quality of this erroneous practice. Personally, I had to consciously work through this action, and labored against convenience by making sure I represented these specific letters of the Romanian language. To my mind, this type of practice could preserve authenticity during translation. In addition, part of this process was not misrepresenting the meanings of the fathers' words, which could have fallen under negative apprehensions as they came across in the English translation, such as being labeled "uneducated" or "uncultured." Building upon this aspect, LARKIN, DIERCKX DE CASTERLÉ and SCHOTSMANS (2007) used a metaphor of four constituent aspects to illuminate the multi-lingual translation process, composed of: cohesion, clarity, congruence and courtesy. Among them, courtesy is one I had to struggle with to reproduce through the fathers' narratives as I tried to carry across a sense of "cultural decorum." Much like in the example offered by LARKIN and his colleagues, where an Italian member of their team had to translate a question from English in an adapted form to include Lei as a form of politeness, I also had to transform the universal English pronoun "you" (or its more formal and impersonal "one") with the formal Romanian substitute for tu as dumneavoastră. This was especially evident, in the interviews I conducted with older Romanian fathers, such as Bogdan² (a 50-year-old father). I compare below the first question I asked Bogdan at the start of our interview with the same question I asked Petre³ during his interview (a 28-year-old father) to the English translation, which absconds the distinctions between formal and informal nuances:

² I used pseudonyms to ensure the participants' confidentiality and anonymity.

³ Petre specifically asked me to use informal speech in our interview, as he felt uncomfortable using polite forms because of our similar ages at the time of the interview.

Romanian (formal): Ce puteți să-mi spuneți despre copilul dumneavoastră?

Romanian (informal): Ce poţi să-mi spui despre copilul tău?

English: What can you tell me about your child? [11]

Maintaining the distinctions between such specific forms of politeness and the universalizing pronouns in English, helped in preserving further authenticity in the process of translating the data of the research, but also helped me maintain appropriate levels of respect during the interactions with my participants, contributing directly to the construction of the collected data. [12]

3.3 Example 3

Even if I struggled to maintain certain authentic aspects, there were inevitably losses in the emotional tone of the quotes, as they crossed over into a different language. In everyday Romanian informal speech there are words which are assumed and implied. If this is relatively unnoticeable in conversations between Romanians themselves, it appears obvious when having to translate or explain the meaning of sentences into another language such as English. Concise Romanian expressions laced with humor and irony were transformed into formal English equivalents that resonated emotionally in different ways. Furthermore, verbs are occasionally implied in the Romanian informal speech, and such cultural idiosyncrasies are hard to translate verbatim (DAM & EYLES, 2012). To resolve this, a process of clarifying assumptions takes place, where the researcher must "fill in certain gaps." This appears evident in a segment of my interview with Nelu, the father of a son whom I interviewed on a park bench in Bucharest. I asked him what kind of positive moments he experiences in the relationship with his son, to which he replied:

English: (...) even this one is a positive experience [referring to being in the park on a Sunday]. There are a lot of positive [moments] and it is easier to gain them, if at the moment when we both wake up in the morning, this to me is a positive thing [laughter] (...) If I am proud of him, I would be—how do you call it—dishonest, [because] a big merit belongs to her [referring to his wife, as having raised their son] *I'm just some guy there*, no matter how I spin it, *I'm just some guy there* eventually. Yes, I'm a mother's assistant.

Romană/Romanian: (...) și asta este o experiență pozitivă. Pozitive sunt multe și e ușor să le obțin. Mi se pare că din moment ce ne trezim amândoi dimineața e pozitiv (...) Dacă sunt mândru de el, sunt – cum îi spune – fraudulos, că un mare merit e al ei. *l'm just some guy there*, știi oricum aș da-o, *l'm just some guy there*, până la urmă. Da, eu sunt asistent de mamă. [13]

Nelu's account is significant as he easily shifts from Romanian to English with the repeated expression "I'm just some guy there." He renders as such something which added a certain emotional weight to the conversation as he self-excluded himself from the cohesive narrative in the process of *doing* of family, identified by David MORGAN (2011) in research with a British population, although he was

also making fun of the seriousness of his fathering responsibility. As an interpreter, I had to "emotionally transplant" the Romanian expressions which fathers have used into English, and there was a level of tacit knowledge inherent in transplanting meanings across cultures. I had to remain aware of my own bias as I translated, by rendering what the Romanian fathers had said but also by interpreting their words to preserve their emotional meanings. Even if fathers stammered or faltered to explain or make their assumptions clear I tried with a minimum change possible to bring this out as I translated, and sometimes I added clarifications in brackets for the reader to understand; such a convention was utilized to remind the reader that the clarification was my own. [14]

Social psychologists have demonstrated that emotions are connected to language (LINDQUIST, MacCORMACK & SHABLACK, 2015). Emotional meaning can be conveyed as well in shifts between one language into another, as what might be painful to articulate in your own language can invoke a momentary emotional detachment, by borrowing expressions from a different language. In this way it might be easier to detach from emotionally significant things in a foreign language, as Nelu's example portrayed above. [15]

3.4 Example 4

In another example there was the difference between replacing the Romanian word *suflet* literally translated into English as "soul," with the word "heart" as it contained a better emotionally expressive equivalent into English. Alexandru, a Romanian father was discussing the love he feels for his only child, Mia, his daughter, and spoke for both him and his wife by saying "deşi putem spune că ambii părinți o iubim din tot sufletul nostru"; I translated this as "although I can say that we both love her from all of our hearts." The word "heart" in this context *embodies* the meaning of love to a larger extent than the word "soul" would have. The difference might be minimal in terms of meaning, but it is represented differently. Even though this conversion would have been correct as an *ad literam* translation, I tried to maintain linguistic equivalence simultaneously with retaining emotional expressivity, as the meaning transferred from the Romanian into the English context for the same narrative. However, in this process the Romanian *soul* was converted into English *heart*, pointing again to an adjustment. [16]

3.5 Example 5

Emotional content represented through inflexions, innuendos and metaphors was lost in translation, as others have emphasized previously (VAN NES, ABMA, JONSSON & DEEG, 2010). For example, in translating a data excerpt from Cosmin, a Romanian father describing how his father influenced his parenting style with his own son, he used the expression "a fi împăcat cu sine." This is an interesting expression as its translation is connected to the bigger concerns of the research (love and social constructionism). One way to translate it, would have been to adopt a locution which is expressive enough to convey an aspect of love and retains some of the emotional qualities of the quote, as "to set one's heart at ease." However, I opted for this version: "we have to reconcile with ourselves,"

because it made more sense in the contextual aspect of the quote, as Cosmin was discussing this detail as part of a strategy of emotional repression that he learned from his father. Moreover, Cosmin was one of the few fathers to be sceptic of the idea that he is loving his son, choosing instead to say that he is responsible for him, and has a friendship with him. In this sense, what would have worked linguistically, was differently represented when interpreted in context and based on information Cosmin had shared earlier in the interview. A verbatim translation would have ignored this aspect, and as might have appeared "impossible" if too precisely rendered (ROTH, 2013). Julia BRANNEN has argued that in translating research on fatherhood from Polish to English, a focus on contextualization is essential, as: "a critical part of a multi-method strategy in creating and making sense of data (...) in terms of the development of research instruments and question wording and in the interpretation of people's responses in a given national context" (2005, p.182). I agree, and would add that this is not only the cultural context but also the emotional experiences that can certainly enhance discursive communication. It mattered not only what fathers had said but also how they said it as well, and it was through these affective atmospheres (GUTIÉRREZ RODRÍGUEZ, 2007) reproduced through father's narratives, which challenged the construction of the cultural hierarchy by preserving authenticity. [17]

4. Obstacles in the Formation of a Hierarchy: Emotional Reflexivity, Gender and Shared Responsibility

In the first section, I hoped to have made a case for how I participated and slightly impeded the process of creating a linguistic cultural hierarchy. In this second part, I elaborate on how I have obstructed this process in translating Romanian to English. As an integral part of this socially-constructed process, in my role as a bilingual woman researcher, I not only converted but also worked to diminish this hierarchical division, and to recalibrate power imbalances during fieldwork and within the text of my doctoral thesis (MACHT, 2017). What has helped me in this process has been a focus on emotional reflexivity and crossgendered interactions, in moving from sole to shared responsibility. [18]

4.1 Emotional reflexivity

The identity and role of the researcher influence the validity and reliability of the study and the findings (TWINN, 1997). At an epistemological level, conducting research in English as a dominant language, influenced how I was developing a definition of paternal love. I counteracted this by keeping a diary wherein I reflected upon my emotions and not only the ideas that my research and interactions with the participants created. According to Mary HOLMES emotional reflexivity is "an emotional, embodied, and cognitive process in which social actors have feelings about and try to understand and alter their lives in relation to their social and natural environment to others" (2010, p.140). Stated otherwise, social actors first understand what they feel to act in the social world, and *vice versa*, how they act can influence their feelings. By consciously acknowledging my emotions, I worked to reduce bias and maintain a resilient approach to the uncomfortable findings of my research. By preserving the social exchanges

present during the research process, I tried to capture the psychological and philosophical cultural specificities (ROTH, 2018) that might otherwise get lost in translation; however, this was linked directly to the participants' narratives rather than to the translation of Romanian sociological theory. [19]

Because I adopted a social constructionist perspective, it was important to explain my positionality and how this might influence the quality of the data. As qualitative interviewing is a time-consuming but also an emotionally consuming endeavor (CAMPBELL, 2003), it was certainly important to employ emotional reflexivity. However, to a large extent I was uncomfortable with employing emotional reflexivity as a female researcher. DEY and NENTWICH (2006) discussed the gendering of qualitative and quantitative research, and I did consider whether employing emotional reflexivity to retain bias from the data was a "feminized" endeavor in that it should be expected from all researchers but is preponderantly employed by female researchers, a situation which is particularly evident in the field of critical studies of men and masculinities (DE BOISE & HEARN, 2017). [20]

There are however difficulties in employing emotional reflexivity on the field. One of the reasons is that there are no institutional guidelines for how to best translate research across genders and cultures. For example, in the UK the British_
Sociological Association's Statement of Ethical Practice (2017) and the Academy_of Social Sciences' Five Ethical Principles (2015) do not focus on potential cultural and gender concerns which might arise during fieldwork. In addition, the Oxford Brookes University's British Code of Practice for Research Ethics for Research involving Human Participants only refers to gender in one aspect: "Any cultural, religious, gender or other differences in a research population should be sensitively and appropriately handled by researchers at all stages" (2016, p.3). However, guidelines for how to pragmatically apply this "sensitivity" are missing. Even other academic articles that tackle ethics and power do not include a discussion of gender matters in translation (MARSHALL & BATTEN, 2004). [21]

4.2 Gender matters

From a gendered perspective, I underwent frequent considerations of why I was studying fatherhood in the first place and questioned whether by translating Romanian into English I was complicit in reproducing linguistically, the patriarchal structures of ruling (OLESEN, 2005). [22]

How language is gendered is significant from the point of view of the analysis, however in certain cases it is difficult to translate these distinctions. Words such as "child" and "boy" which are masculine nouns in Romanian, or "girl" which is feminine, appear in English as gender-neutral due to the universal use of the definite and neutral article "the" (WATTS, 2011). Because of this detail, those moments when Romanian fathers were using "the child" instead of the words "daughter" or "son," I interpreted as a form of emotional detachment. However, these Romanian words were lost in translation, further obscuring certain linguistic constructions of patriarchal dominance. [23]

The problematic layer of studying men's experiences from the lens of a female feminist researcher has been previously discussed in the literature (ARENDELL, 1997; KIMMEL, HEARN & CONNELL, 2005; LEE, 1997; MORGAN, 1992; PINI, 2005). Concerns are mainly centered upon the fact that male researchers studying men might inadvertently create knowledge which reproduces hegemonic discourses. Therefore, as a female researcher, a constant reflection on selfpositionality at the crossroads between the "mother tongue" and the "learned tongue" was frequently employed in my study in an effort to acknowledge where narratives became fused, especially when sharing the same language (DAM & EYLES, 2012). For example, I was born and I grew up in Bucharest, the place where I recruited my Romanian participants, and I have been speaking Romanian as a mother tongue from birth. At seven years of age I began learning English in school, a language I then studied intensively up until I graduated from college. I felt so comfortable speaking English that in conversations with friends and family relatively early on I began utilizing it as much as I was speaking Romanian—at home but also in public places, shifting easily between the two dialects. In the context of moving from Romania to Scotland for my degree and conducting an empirical piece of research in two different languages, I acted as an interpreter in two realms I was familiar with. As such, these experiences are not that easily situated on either the insider/outsider dimensions. It always felt empowering to speak English because it offered me access to a prestigious educational environment. However, only at the stage of dissemination of my research—by noticing how the academic public perceived it—did I become aware that I was indeed an outsider (and despite not necessarily considering myself one). I uncomfortably had to reshape the different meanings I was accustomed to expand upon in Romanian into the distinct scripts of English, as demonstrated in the above data excerpts. [24]

As a feminist female researcher studying men, I felt I was hardly "protected" from gender bias, but reflexively I worked through a balanced approach in how I have collected and analyzed the data. For example, I was also acutely aware of falling into the trap of providing a critically pessimistic account of masculinity. The extent to which I have achieved this is debatable, as gender being the subject under study was dynamic, and took the form of the object of knowledge-construction, a topic I presented in-depth in a previous paper (MACHT, 2018). It has been argued that in moving across language, the female bilingual translator can be perceived as enacting a "betrayal" particularly (ALARCON, 1994 [1989]) in relation to the power afforded by contributing to the knowledge production experience. One way to circumvent power, is by focusing on preserving the humorous moments. It has been argued that humor loses its significance more easily when "carried over" into the cultural demands of a different linguistic system (ROTH, 2013). As a researcher I have tried to emphasize in the transcription stage when either I or a participant [laughs], or when both of us simultaneously experienced [laughter] during our recorded encounters. This helped break at times, the difficult emotional tensions described, and reminded the readership that emotions are socially-constructed at the level of language, which leads me to my next point. [25]

4.3 Shared responsibility

The researcher undoubtedly has an increased responsibility in how he/she handles the process of translating, particularly if he/she is bilingual, as Virginia OLESEN writes:

"Even though researchers and participants both shape the flow of silences and comments, the researcher, who writes up the account and has responsibility for the text, remains in the more powerful position (...) Merely letting the tape recorder run to present the respondent's voice does not overcome the problem of representation, because the respondent's comments are already mediated when they are made in the interview" (2005, pp.251-252). [26]

However, as a feminist researcher my considerable responsibility and power was rather limited. I experienced it as a non-linear and fluctuating aspect of the research process. As OLESEN suggests, I often felt I had a diminished power on the field, but an increased power in the writing process, as I struggled to accurately represent fathers' voices. The tension was because my participants were simultaneously part of a privileged group of White men, and yet they were also a minority group whose voices have been excluded from the literature on fatherhood. In addition, it has been hypothesized that power rests in how translation is executed and integrated into the research design not just *per se* (TEMPLE & YOUNG, 2004), so by choosing to focus on marginalized fathering experiences I thought I contributed to de-centering Western perspectives. [27]

Furthermore, I wondered if I was "reverse othering" my male participants. In an intricate analysis, BRONS (2015) argued that one cannot speak of a reversal of the position of othering, but of the transcendence of othering. This is because rather than it being the act of doing something upon somebody, it is more of a mirroring of the researcher into the experiences of the participant. I agree with this perspective as it relies upon the mutual co-construction of the discourse, the reality and the relationship between participant and researcher; it is in line with the theoretical framework that I have used to design the doctoral research (BURKITT, 2014), which conceives of emotions as social relations rather than inward and private experiences. As such, it was not only the data at hand that was socially constructed between myself and the participants, but once it passes into the dissemination stage, the interpretations of my findings are also socially constructed in the communication with editors, reviewers, and the readership (VAN NES et al., 2010). The process of constructing meaning continues to interact with the reader's and reviewers' assumptions even after publication (SQUIRES, 2009). [28]

As I have undertaken all the interviews, transcribed and translated them, that might be a sign of coherence and as such increased reliability, and yet it should be taken into account that the data is then analyzed and disseminated from solely one individual's perspective. Such a perspective ties in with the notion of *subjective culture* (BUSCH, 2009), which, when applied to translation, means that the researcher is only able to translate from her/his own *situated position of*

knowledge (both linguistically and epistemologically). Because situations where the researcher can fluently speak the languages of those she is working with are rare, it is essential then to focus on the overt but also the hidden components of translation (TEMPLE & YOUNG, 2004). This means that representatives from the same culture attribute each other discursive positions in dialogue wherein assumptions usually remain unquestioned. As such, the researcher has to work through elucidating them by maintaining an *intercultural sensitivity* (HAMMER, BENNETT & WISEMAN, 2003). [29]

Furthermore, Rafat ALWAZNA (2014) argues that there are two broad opposing views in the debate on the ethics of translation: one that purports strict adherence to the original text even if the overall results sound foreign, whereas the other promotes a type of adaption of the source material into the cultural demands of the target language. The author considers that the better ethical stand is situated at the intersection of this approach. For something to be deemed "successful" it must be incorporated into the dominant language, otherwise it will not be referred to and cited as a core text, and therefore widely distributed. However, even in this context, gender is usually a neglected ethical concern. In this article, I empirically added to the theoretical contributions of ALWAZNA's balanced approach to ethical dilemmas in translating. [30]

5. Conclusion: Representing the Cultural Margins or Reproducing Linguistic Dominance?

Andrew CHESTERMAN (2006) considers that the cultural researcher is primarily a mediator, who fulfills multiple functions in the translation process: analyzing the data for cultural sameness and difference, deciding what is excluded and included, considering equivalence and adaptation as a freer form of translation, and establishing correlations between semantic features and translation norms. As part of my research design, I served as a bilingual mediator, and inadvertently created cultural hierarchies in the process of translating from the marginalized Romanian language into English as the dominant language of research, with the aim of increasing the visibility of my participants' representation. TEMPLE and YOUNG argue that researchers should emphasize the silence between linguistic logic and rhetoric: "The fundamental issue is how the expediency of translation reinforces the invisibility of the source language—an issue that is both political and methodological" (2004, p.166). In this contribution to the debate on the quality of qualitative data, I have problematized this "silence" in the present article, as not only being logical but also the emotional and frequently linked to the unconscious actions of our research. As such I add and update the viewpoints expressed by FAHRENBERG (2003) and BREUER (2003) in this journal, who have considered positionality from a psychological dimension. I, however focus on the social aspects of the relational, in-between space where a researcher creates knowledge with his/her participants, a knowledge which is inevitably subjected to a hierarchy as it is translated. Therefore, I have presented how the quality of the research can be enhanced by employing emotional reflexivity, because it considers in-depth the researcher's role and his/her gendered and cultural positions in the process of constructing knowledge. [31]

However, as TAROZZI (2013) argues, translating a text into a dominant language is not only an act of conversion but of reinterpretation, as the source language might have certain specific characteristics which enable the qualitative researcher to reinterpret how English is used in the process of translation. So, the target language, in this case English not only dominates the marginal and source language (here Romanian) but it is also reshaped by it, in contact with a different syntactical and semantic structure. To fulfil my role in the quality of the qualitative process, I showed through examples how I tried to preserve the idiosyncrasies and specificities of the Romanian language in translation. Furthermore, as ROTH (2018) explains in an analysis of how MARX is translated, converting meanings strikes at the core of an epistemological reflection and is not just a linguistic transformation. According to him qualitative researchers should be especially careful to the philosophical and psychological values that are being "morphed," as these transfer into another (and as I argued) more dominant language. [32]

Reflecting on the data presented in this article. I hope that it adds a focused view on the many roles of the researcher as an essential part of the research process and contributing as such to the wider debate on quality. Translation is connected to the researcher's persona, to the gender and culture of the researcher, and this aspect should not be ignored by social researchers. Interpretation is at the core of qualitative research (FAHRENBERG, 2003), but cross-cultural studies should continue to make the process overt (TEMPLE, EDWARDS & ALEXANDER, 2006), and furthermore reflect on the intersection of gender and culture in their analyses of their own persona and of those of their participants. I offered my personal example as a case study in this article, of translating Romanian data into English, as a starting point of opening to a wider discussion. It would be interesting to observe what insights I might have gained from reversing the process: by translating the findings of my research from English to Romanian and disseminating to a Romanian audience. Ultimately, I argue that the universally accepted role of English as the primary language of research should continue to be challenged rather than simply assumed. In its current dominance it can simplify the complexity of research and the social relationships that support it and continue to propagate an impoverished scholarly understanding of a social landscape replete with valuable and distinct cultural perspectives. [33]

Acknowledgment

I am grateful to Alison KOSLOWSKI and Esther DERMOTT who have suggested I write about this topic in the first place. I would also like to thank Wolff Michael ROTH for helping me improve the initial manuscript.

References

Academia Română (2010). DOOM – Dicţionarul ortografic, ortoepic şi morfologic al limbii române [The orthographic, orthoepic and morphologic dictionary of the Romanian language] (2nd ed.). Bucharest: Univers Enciclopedic Gold.

Agar, Michael (2006a). An ethnography by any other name ... Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research, 7(4), Art. 36, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.177 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Agar, Michael (2006b). Response to <u>Wolff-Michael Roth</u>, "But does 'ethnography by any other name' really promote real ethnography?". *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 7(4), http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-7.4.179 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Alarcon, Norma (1994 [1989]). Tradutora, traditora: A paradigmatic figure of Chicana feminism. In Inderpal Grewal & Caren Kaplan (Eds.), *Scattered hegemonies: Postmodernity and transnational feminist practices* (pp.110-136). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.

Alwazna, Rafat Y. (2014). Ethical aspects of translation: Striking a balance between following translation ethics and producing a TT for serving a specific purpose. *English Linguistics Research*, *3*(1), 51-57.

Arendell, Terri (1997). Reflections on the researcher-researched relationship: A woman interviewing men. *Qualitative Sociology*, 20(3), 341-368.

Behar, Ruth (2003). Translated woman: Crossing the border with Esperanza's story. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Brannen, Julia (2005). Mixing methods: The entry of qualitative and quantitative approaches into the research process. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *8*(3), 173-184.

<u>Breuer, Franz</u> (2000). Bending the knee to the acquisition of economical resources—Against deeper epistemological insights. Reply to: On the problem of validity of qualitative research. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *1*(3), Art. 39, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-1.3.1056 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Breuer, Franz (2003). Qualitative and quantitative methods: Positions and position changes in psychology. A comment on texts by Jochen Fahrenberg and Jürgen Rost. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *4*(2), Art. 44, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.721 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Breuer, Franz & Reichertz, Jo (2001). Standards of social research. Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 2(3), Art. 24, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-2.3.919 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Brons, Lajos L. (2015). Othering, an analysis. Transcience, 6(1), 69-90.

Burkitt, Ian (2014). Emotions and social relations. London: Sage.

Busch, Dominic (2009). The notion of culture in linguistic research. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *10*(1), Art. 50, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-10.1.1242 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Campbell, Elaine (2003). Interviewing men in uniform: A feminist approach?. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 6(4), 285-304.

Chesterman, Andrew (2006). Interpreting the meaning of translation. In Mickael Suominen (Ed.), *A man of measure: Festschrift in honour of Fred Karlsson on his 60th birthday* (pp.3-11). Turku: The Linguistic Association of Finland.

Dam, Huyen & Eyles, John (2012). "Home tonight? What? Where?" An exploratory study of the meanings of house, home and family among the former Vietnamese refugees in a Canadian city. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research, 13(2), Art. 19, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.2.1696 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

de Boise, Sam & Hearn, Jeff (2017). Are men getting more emotional? Critical sociological perspectives on men, masculinities and emotions. *The Sociological Review*, 65(4), 779-796.

<u>Denzin, Norman K.</u> & Lincoln, Yvonna S. (2005). Preface. In Norman K. Denzin & Yvonna S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (3rd ed., pp.ix-xix). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Dey, Pascal & Nentwich, Julia C. (2006). The identity politics of qualitative research. A discourse analytic inter-text. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 7(4), Art. 28, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.173 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Fahrenberg, Jochen (2003). Interpretation in psychology and social science—New approach or a neglected tradition?. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *4*(2), Art. 45, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.722 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Grewal, Inderpal & Kaplan, Caren (1994). Scattered hegemonies: Postmodernity and transnational feminist practices. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.

Groeben, Norbert (2006). Are there ways out of the self-inflicted irrelevance of the qualitative off-stream?. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 7(4), Art. 34, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-7.4.181 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Gutiérrez Rodríguez, Encarnación (2007). Reading affect—On the heterotopian spaces of care and domestic work in private households. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 8(2), Art. 11, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-8.2.240 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Hammer, Mitchell R.; Bennett, Milton J. & Wiseman, Richard L. (2003). Measuring intercultural sensitivity: The intercultural development inventory. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 27, 421-443.

Holmes, Mary (2010). The emotionalization of reflexivity. Sociology, 44(1), 139-154.

Hsiung, Ping-Chun (2012). The globalization of qualitative research: Challenging Anglo-American domination and local hegemonic discourse. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 13(1), Art. 21, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.1.1710 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Huber, Andreas (2001). The scientist's fear of aesthetics. Reply to Jo Reichertz "On the problem of validity of qualitative research". Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 2(2), Art. 1, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.1.1710 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Kiener, Urs & Schanne, Michael (2001). Contextualization, authority, communication. Some remarks on the FQS debate "Quality of qualitative research". Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 2(2), Art. 2, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-2.2.962 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Kimmel, Michael S.; Hearn, Jeff R. & Connell, Raewyn W. (Eds.) (2005). *Handbook of studies on men and masculinities*. London: Sage.

Kushner, Eva (2003). English as global language: Problems, dangers, opportunities. *Diogenes*, *50*, 17-23.

Larkin, Philip J.; Dierckx de Casterlé, Bernadette & Schotsmans, Paul (2007). Multilingual translation issues in qualitative research: Reflections on a metaphorical process. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(4), 468-476.

Laucken, Uwe (2002). Quality criteria as instruments for political control of sciences. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *3*(1), Art. 6, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-3.1.888 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Lee, Deborah (1997). Interviewing men: Vulnerabilities and dilemmas. *Women's Studies International Forum – Pergamon*, 20(4), 553-564.

Lindquist, Kristen A.; MacCormack, Jennifer K. & Shablack, Holly (2015). The role of language in emotion: Predictions from psychological constructionism. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*(444), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4396134/ [Accessed: February 19, 2018].

Lutz, Catherine A. & Abu-Lughod, Lila (1990). Language and the politics of emotion. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Macht, Alexandra (2017). Between stoicism and intimacy: The social construction of paternal love. *Unpublished PhD Thesis*, The University of Edinburgh, UK.

Macht, Alexandra (2018). Grounding reflexivity in a qualitative study on love with fathers. Sage Research Methods Cases, Part 2.

Mardones, Rodolfo E., Ulloa Martínez, Jorge B. & Salas, Gonzalo (2018). Qualitative methodological designs as presented in high-impact open access social science journals. *Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *19*(1), Art. 8, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.1.2656 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Marshall, Anne & Batten, Suzanne (2004). Researching across cultures: Issues of ethics and power. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 5(3), Art. 39, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-5.3.572 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Morgan, David (1992). Discovering men. London: Routledge.

Morgan, David (2011). Rethinking family practices. Houndmills, Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Olesen, Virginia (2005). Early millennial feminist qualitative research: Challenges and contours. In Norman K. Denzin & Yvonna S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (3rd ed.) (pp.235-279). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Pini, Barbara (2005). Interviewing men: Gender and the collection and interpretation of qualitative data. *Journal of Sociology*, *41*(2), 201-216.

Ramazanoğlu, Caroline & Holland, Janet (2002). Feminist methodology: Challenges and choices. London: Sage.

Reichertz, Jo (2000). On the problem of validity of qualitative research. *Forum Qualitative Social Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 1(2), Art. 32, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-1.2.1101 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Rost, Jürgen (2003). Zeitgeist and fashions in the analysis of empirical data. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *4*(2), Art. 5, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.723 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Roth, Wolff Michael (2006). But does "Ethnography by any other name" really promote real ethnography?. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research, 7(4), Art. 37, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.178 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Roth, Wolff Michael (2013). Translation in qualitative social research: The possible impossible. Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 14(2), Art. 13, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-14.2.1986 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Roth, Wolff Michael (2018). Translation and its consequences in qualitative social research: On distinguishing "the social" from "the societal". *Forum Qualitative Socialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *19*(1), Art. 12, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.1.2988 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

<u>Schreier, Margrit</u> & Breuer, Franz (2006). Describing the disciplinary irrelevance of qualitative research methods. An introduction to Norbert Groeben. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 7(4), http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.180 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Simpson, John A. & Weiner, Edmund S.C. (Eds.) (1989). *The Oxford English dictionary* (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Squires, Allison (2009). Methodological challenges in cross-language qualitative research: A research review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 46(2), 277-287.

Spivak, Gayatri Chakravorty (1992). The politics of translation. In Michele Barrett & Anne Philips (Eds.), *Destabilising theory: Contemporary feminist debates* (pp.177-200). Cambridge: Polity Press.

Springett, Jane; Atkey, Kayla; Kongats, Krystyna; Zulla, Rosslynn & Wilkins, Emma (2016). Conceptualizing quality in participatory health research: A phenomenographic inquiry. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 17(2), Art. 27, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-17.2.2568 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Tarozzi, Massimiliano (2013). Translating and doing grounded theory methodology. Intercultural mediation as an analytic resource. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *14*(2), Art. 6, http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs130263 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Temple, Bogusia & Young, Alys (2004). Qualitative research and translation dilemmas. *Qualitative Research*, *4*(2), 161-178.

Temple, Bogusia; Edwards, Rosalind & Alexander, Claire (2006). Grasping at context: Cross language qualitative research as secondary qualitative data analysis. *Forum Qualitative Social Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 7(4), Art. 10, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-7.4.176 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Tolhurst, Edward (2012). Grounded theory method: Sociology's quest for exclusive items of inquiry. Forum Qualitative Social Research, 13(3), Art. 26, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-13.3.1860 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Twinn, Sheila (1997). An exploratory study examining the influence of translation on the validity and reliability of qualitative data in nursing research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 26, 418-423.

van Nes, Fenna; Abma, Tineke; Jonsson, Hans & Deeg, Dorly (2010). Language differences in qualitative research: Is meaning lost in translation?. *European Journal of Ageing*, 7, 313-316.

Watts, Richard J. (2011). Language myths and the history of English. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Zhao, Pengfei; Li, Peiwei; Ross, Karen & Dennis, Barbara (2016). Methodological tool or methodology? Beyond instrumentality and efficiency with qualitative data analysis software. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, *17*(2), Art. 16, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-17.2.2597 [Accessed: February 17, 2018].

Author

Alexandra MACHT is a lecturer in sociology at Oxford Brookes University. Her research concerns the interplay between emotions, gender and intimate relationships, especially the role of love in the context of Romanian and British family lives. She recently completed her doctoral thesis titled "Between Stoicism and Intimacy: The Social Construction of Paternal Love" at the University of Edinburgh, funded by the UK Economic and Social Research Council. The manuscript is currently being transformed into a book with Palgrave Macmillan. Her other published works include a briefing for the Centre for Research for Families and Relationships in Scotland (2017) titled "Love, Fatherhood and Possibilities for Social Change" and an article on "Grounding Reflexivity in a Qualitative Study on Love with Fathers" (2018) for Sage Research Methods Cases. She is the coeditor of the annual International Review of Leave Policies and Research with Sonja BLUM, Alison KOSLOWSKI and Peter MOSS.

Contact:

Alexandra Macht

Department of Social Sciences Gibbs Building, Headington Campus Headington Road, Oxford OX3 0BP, UK

Tel.: +44 (0)1865 483944

E-mail: amacht@brookes.ac.uk
URL: https://www.brookes.ac.uk
sciences/staff-and-students/academic-staff/?wid=academic-staff&op=full&uid=p0084943

Twitter: @Alexandra Macht

Citation

Macht, Alexandra (2018). From Romanian "Soul" to English "Heart": Dilemmas of Cultural and Gender Representation in Translating Qualitative Data [33 paragraphs]. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 19(2), Art. 12, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.2.3002.